#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

v.

HANS CHARLES FEIGE,

Respondent.

Case No. SC03-151 [TFB Case No. 2002-30,906(07B)] Case No. SC03-1006 [TFB Case Nos. 2002-31,564(07B); 2002-31,944(07B); 2003-30,244(07B)] Case No. SC03-1558 [TFB Case No. 2003-30,541(07B)] Case No. SC04-449 [TFB Case No. 2003-30,886(07B)]

#### THE FLORIDA BAR'S INITIAL BRIEF

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850)561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 123390

JOHN ANTHONY BOGGS Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850)561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 253847

AND

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

In Case No. SC03-151 [TFB Case No. 2002-30,906(07B)], the Seventh Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "B" voted to find probable cause on August 30, 2002. The bar served its Complaint on January 28, 2003, and the referee was appointed on February 20, 2003. After this court granted the bar's motion for change of venue on June 6, 2003, a new referee was appointed on June 20, 2003. In Case No. SC03-1006 [TFB Case Nos. 2002-31,564(07B), 2002-31,944(07B), 2003-30,244(07B)], the Seventh Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "B" voted to find probable cause on February 21, 2003. The bar served its Complaint on June 4, 2003. The referee was appointed on July 24, 2003. On October 7, 2003, the referee entered an order consolidating Case No. SC03-151 [TFB Case No. 2002-30,906(07B)], and Case No. SC03-1006 [TFB Case Nos. 2002-31,564(07B), 2002-31,944(07B), 2003-30,244(07B)] for purposes of the final hearing. In Case No. SC03-1558 [TFB Case No. 2003-30,541(07B)], the Seventh Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "B" voted to find probable cause on May 23, 2003. The bar served its Complaint on September 3, 2003. The referee was appointed on September 23, 2003. On November 14, 2003, the referee entered an order consolidating Case No. SC03-1558 [TFB Case No. 2003-30,541(07B)] with the other two pending matters for purposes of the final hearing. On December 12, 2003, this court entered an order granting the bar's first motion for extension of time to file the report of

1

referee until March 8, 2004. The final hearing on the consolidated cases was held on February 4, 5, 6, 19, and 24, 2004. On March 5, 2004, this court entered its order granting the bar's second motion for extension of time to file the report of referee until June 1, 2004. On June 25, 2004, this court granted the bar's third motion for extension of time to file the report of referee until August 31, 2004.

In Case No. SC04-449 [TFB Case No. 2003-30,886(07B)], the Seventh Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "B" voted to find probable cause on October 17, 2003. The bar served its Complaint on March 16, 2004, and the referee was appointed on April 7, 2004. The final hearing was held on July 22, and August 3, 2004. The hearing as to mitigation and argument as to the appropriate level of discipline in all the pending cases was held on August 19, 2004. The referee entered his reports on September 23, 2004, recommending respondent be found guilty in each case.

In Case No. SC03-151 [TFB Case No. 2002-30,906(07B)], the referee recommended respondent be found guilty of violating rules 4-1.3 for failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client; 4-1.4(a) for failing to keep a client reasonably informed about the status of a matter and for failing to comply with reasonable requests for information; 4-1.4(b) for failing to explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary to permit the client to make informed decisions regarding the representation; 4-1.15(b) for failing to promptly render to a

2

client upon request an accounting of funds held by the attorney; 4-8.4(c) for engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation; 4-8.4(g)(1) for failing to respond, in writing, within fifteen days to an official inquiry by Bar counsel when Bar counsel is conducting an investigation into the lawyer's conduct; and 4-8.4(g)(2) for failing to respond, in writing, within ten days of the date of any follow-up written investigative inquiries by Bar counsel when Bar counsel is conducting an investigation into the lawyer's conduct.

The referee in Case No. SC03-1006, recommended respondent be found guilty in Count I [TFB Case No. 2002-31,564(07B)] of violating rules 4-1.1 for failing to provide competent representation to a client; 4-1.2(a) for failing to abide by a client's decisions concerning the objectives of representation and for failing to consult with the client as to the means by which they are to be pursued; 4-1.3 for failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client; 4-1.4(a) for failing to keep a client reasonably informed about the status of a matter and promptly comply with reasonable requests for information; 4-1.4(b) for failing to explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary to permit the client to make informed decisions regarding the representation; 4-3.2 for failing to make reasonable efforts to expedite litigation consistent with the interests of the client; 4-8.4(g)(1) for failing to respond, in writing, within fifteen days of the date of the initial written investigative inquiry by Bar counsel when Bar counsel is conducting an investigation into the lawyer's conduct; and 48.4(g)(2) for failing to respond, in writing, within ten days of the date of any follow-up written investigative inquiry by Bar counsel when Bar counsel is conducting an investigation into the lawyer's conduct. In Count II [TFB Case No. 2002-31,944(07B), the referee recommended respondent be found guilty of violating rules 4-1.1 for failing to provide competent representation to a client; 4-1.2(a) for failing to abide by a client's decisions concerning the objectives of representation and for failing to consult with the client as to the means by which they are to be pursued; 4-1.3 for failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client; 4-1.4(a) for failing to keep a client reasonably informed about the status of a matter and for failing to promptly comply with reasonable requests for information; 4-1.4(b) for failing to explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary to permit the client to make informed decisions regarding the representation; 4-8.4(d) for engaging in conduct in connection with the practice of law that is prejudicial to the administration of justice; 4-8.4(g)(1) for failing to respond, in writing, within fifteen days of the date of the initial written investigative inquiry by Bar counsel, when Bar counsel is conducting an investigation into the lawyer's conduct; and 4-8.4(g)(2) for failing to respond, in writing, within ten days of the date of any follow-up written investigative inquiries by Bar counsel when Bar counsel is conducting an investigation into the lawyer's conduct. In Count III [TFB Case No. 2003-30,244(07B), the referee recommended respondent be found guilty of violating rules 4-1.1 for failing to provide

4

competent representation to a client; 4-1.2(a) for failing to abide by a client's decisions concerning the objectives of representation and for failing to consult with the client as to the means by which they are to be pursued; 4-1.3 for failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client; 4-1.4(a) for failing to keep a client reasonably informed about the status of a matter and for failing to promptly comply with reasonable requests for information; 4-1.4(b) for failing to explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary to permit the client to make informed decisions regarding the representation; 4-8.4(d) for engaging in conduct in connection with the practice of law that is prejudicial to the administration of justice; 4-8.4(g)(1) for failing to respond, in writing, within fifteen days of the date of the initial written investigative inquiry by Bar counsel, when Bar counsel is conducting an investigation into the lawyer's conduct; and 4-8.4(g)(2) for failing to respond, in writing, within ten days of the date of any follow-up written investigative inquiries by Bar counsel, when Bar counsel or the agency is conducting an investigation into the lawyer's conduct.

In Case No. SC03-1558 [2003-30,541(07B)], the referee recommended respondent be found guilty of violating rules 4-1.3 for failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client; 4-1.4(a) for failing to keep a client reasonably informed about the status of a matter and for failing to comply with reasonable requests for information; 4-1.4(b) for failing to explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary to permit the client to make informed decisions regarding

5

the representation; 4-1.5(e) for failing to communicate the basis or rate of the fee before or within a reasonable time after commencing the representation; 4-1.8(a) for knowingly entering into a business transaction with a client, or for knowingly acquiring an ownership, possessory, security, or other pecuniary interest adverse to the client; 4-1.15 for failing to comply with The Florida Bar Rules Regulating Trust Accounts, 4-1.15(a) [prior to April 25, 2002] for failing to hold in trust funds and property of a client that are in the lawyer's possession in connection with the representation 5-1.1(a) [prior to April 25, 2002] for failing to hold in trust funds and property of a client that are in the lawyer's possession in connection with the representation; 5-1.1(a)(1) for failing to hold in trust funds and property of a client that are in the lawyer's possession in connection with the representation; 5-1.1(a)(1) for failing to hold in trust funds and property of a client that are in the lawyer's possession in connection with the representation; 5-1.1(a)(1) for failing to hold in trust funds and property of a client that are in the lawyer's possession in connection with the representation; and 5-1.1(b) for using money or other property for purposes other than those for which they were entrusted.

In Case No. SC04-449 [TFB Case No. 2003-30,886(07B)], the referee recommended respondent be found guilty of violating rules 4-1.1 for failing to provide a client with competent representation; 4-1.2(a) for failing to abide by a client's decisions regarding the objectives of representation and for failing to consult with the client as to the means by which they are to be pursued; 4-1.3 for failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client; 4-1.4(a) for failing to keep a client reasonably informed about the status of a matter and promptly comply with reasonable requests for information; 4-1.4(b) for failing to explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary to permit the client to make informed decisions regarding the representation; 4-1.5(e) for failing to communicate to the client the basis or rate of the fee either before or within a reasonable time after commencing the representation; 4-8.4(c) for engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation; and 4-8.4(d) for engaging in conduct in connection with the practice of law that is prejudicial to the administration of justice.

In each of the aforementioned cases the referee recommended respondent be suspended for one year, with the suspension to run concurrently in each case, with reinstatement to be conditioned on respondent undergoing a physical examination to ensure he would have the physical capacity and stamina to maintain a law practice. Upon reinstatement, the referee recommended respondent be placed on a two year period of supervised probation, with said probation to run concurrently in each case.

The Board of Governors of The Florida Bar considered the reports of referee at its October, 2004, meeting and voted to seek an appeal of the referee's recommendation as to a one year concurrent suspension in each case and instead impose a two year period of concurrent suspension in each case with the same rehabilitation and probation requirements as set forth by the referee in his reports and payment of costs. The bar filed its petition for review on October 27, 2004, and moved to consolidate all pending cases for purposes of appeal.

7

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

In Case No. SC03-151 [TFB Case No. 2002-30,906(07B)], Delia Iren hired respondent to represent her in various domestic relations matters, including a dissolution of marriage (ROR p. A2, Answer to bar's Complaint, T Vol. IV pp. 614-615, T Vol. V pp. 685-686). Ms. Iren paid respondent a total of \$1,200.00 to handle the dissolution of marriage case (ROR p. A2, T Vol. III p. 491, T Vol. IV pp. 590, 617, T Vol. V p. 693, B-Ex. 79, R-Ex. 19). Ms. Iren requested respondent seek her husband's retirement benefit records from his employer but respondent failed to do so. He chose instead to rely on opposing counsel's assurances that the documentation that had been provided to him by Mr. Iren about this primary marital asset was accurate and complete (ROR pp. A2-A3, T Vol. II p. 378, T Vol. IV p. 622, T Vol. V pp. 713, 716). After Ms. Iren moved to Great Britain, respondent failed to maintain adequate communication with her (ROR p. A4, T Vol. III p. 516, T Vol. V p. 720) and, despite her instructions that he pursue settlement negotiations, he failed to do so until after she returned to Florida for a brief visit and met with him (ROR pp. A3-A4, B-Ex. 57, B-Ex. 85). Respondent failed to comply with the opposing party's discovery requests in a timely manner and took no steps to make sure Ms. Iren had completed the information and returned it so he could respond to the discovery requests within the required time frame (ROR pp. A6-A7, T Vol. IV pp. 620-622, T Vol. V pp. 701-703, 705-706, 708-709, B-Ex. 65, B-Ex. 66, B-Ex. 69, B-Ex. 90, R-

Ex. 23, R-Ex. 24, R-Ex. 41, R-Ex. 38). Respondent misrepresented to the court that he would be providing opposing counsel with Ms. Iren's discovery responses in the near future when in fact this was not true (ROR p. A8, B-Ex. 75). He also misrepresented to Ms. Iren that mediation had been scheduled when in fact he had not followed through with opposing counsel and the mediator to set a date (ROR pp. A8-A10, B-Ex. 50, B-Ex. 85, B-Ex. 97, B-Ex. 101, B-Ex. 102, R-Ex. 42, R-Ex. 46). Respondent also failed to provide Ms. Iren with a detailed billing statement until after she filed her bar grievance (ROR p. A6, T Vol. III pp. 496, 500-501, 509-510). Respondent failed to make timely responses to the bar's investigative inquiries (ROR p. A11, T Vol. IV p. 608, Answer to bar's Complaint, R-Ex. 47).

In Count I of Case No. SC03-1006 [TFB Case No. 2002-31,564(07B)], Melody Burgess hired respondent to represent her in a dissolution of marriage (ROR p. A20, Answer to bar's Complaint). Ms. Burgess paid respondent a fee of \$500.00 but respondent failed to clarify in writing that he intended to charge her an hourly rate T Vol. II p. 327). He never provided her with a detailed billing statement (ROR p. A20, T Vol. II pp. 326-327, 338, 351, T Vol. V pp. 764, 766). After receiving a proposed marital settlement agreement, respondent failed to maintain adequate communication with Ms. Burgess and failed to conclude the case despite a verbal settlement (ROR pp. A21-A22, T Vol. II pp. 241-242, 256, 282-286, 300-304, 320-322, 324, 327-329, 350-351, T Vol. V pp. 772-773, B-Ex. 24, B-Ex. 27, B-Ex. 28, B- Ex. 41). Ms. Burgess found it necessary to contact opposing counsel to ascertain the status of the matter (ROR p. A22, T Vol. II pp. 246-247, 249-250, 324, B-Ex. 31, B-Ex. 40). She thereafter contacted her former husband to obtain a copy of the marital settlement agreement so she could execute it and have it filed with the court (ROR pp. A22-A23, T Vol. II pp. 286, 327-328). Additionally, respondent failed to make timely written responses to the bar's investigative inquiries (ROR pp. A24-A25, T Vol. IV pp. 604-608, B-Ex. 114, B-Ex. 115, B-Ex. 117, B-Ex. 118, Answer to bar's Complaint).

In Count II of Case No. SC03-1006 [TFB Case No. 2002-31,944(07B)], Carolyn Clark hired respondent to represent her in a civil action against a Illinois-based moving van company for items that either were damaged or lost in transit (ROR p. A25, T Vol. I pp. 32, 34-35, 42, 75-77, R-Ex. 1). Ms. Clark paid respondent a fee of \$150.00 but respondent never entered into a written fee agreement with her nor did he provide her with any detailed billing statements (ROR p. A25, T Vol. I p. 36, T Vol. IV p. 628, Answer to bar's Complaint). Respondent ultimately filed suit in Florida against the moving van company even though it was not registered to conduct business in the State of Florida (ROR p. A26, T Vol. I pp. 97-98, Answer to bar's Complaint). Respondent relied on the oral representations of an agent for a moving van company

transmit the suit information to the company in Illinois. Respondent did not obtain

in Florida with the same name as the Illinois moving van company that he would

written verification that the agent had the authority to accept service of process for the named business entity (ROR p. A26, T Vol. IV pp. 628, 633, T Vol. V p. 796, R-Ex. 5). Respondent obtained a default judgment and in October, 2001, had Ms. Clark execute the affidavit of damages needed to obtain the final judgment (ROR p. A26, T Vol. I pp. 11, 49-50, T Vol. IV pp. 575-576, Answer to bar's Complaint). He then delayed filing the affidavit with the clerk's office for almost three months (ROR pp. A26-A27, T Vol. IV p. 629, T Vol. V pp. 797-798, B-Ex. 5, R-Ex. 6). In late January, 2002, Ms. Clark went to the clerk's office to check on the status of her case as she was unable to contact respondent. She learned that a motion to dismiss for lack of prosecution was pending (ROR p. A27, T Vol. I p. 11, T Vol. IV p. 577). Ms. Clark found it necessary to execute another affidavit of damages that she filed on her own (ROR p. A27, T Vol. I pp. 44-45, 47-48, 66, 82, T Vol. V p. 797, B-Ex. 6). The final judgment was entered in Ms. Clark's favor in the amount of \$2,250.00 (ROR p. A28, B-Ex. 8). Thereafter, Ms. Clark learned her final judgment was unenforceable against the Illinois-based moving van company (ROR p. A28, T Vol. I pp. 52, 62-63, 88-89, 97-98, 100-101) and she filed a complaint against respondent with the bar (B-Ex. 9). Respondent failed to make timely written responses to the bar's investigative inquiries (ROR pp. A28-A29, B-Ex. 10, B-Ex. 11, B-Ex. 12, B-Ex. 13, B-Ex. 107, B-Ex. 108, B-Ex. 109, Answer to bar's Complaint, Additional Responses to Requests for Discovery).

In Count III of Case No. SC03-1006 [TFB Case No. 2003-30,244(078B)],

Charles R. Shaffer hired respond to represent him in a simple dissolution of marriage action and paid respondent a fee of \$750.00 (ROR p. A29, T Vol. I pp. 15, 121, 142, T Vol. II pp. 390-391). Mr. Shaffer informed respondent he wanted the matter concluded quickly but that his wife, who had filed the petition for dissolution of marriage, did not want the divorce and would attempt to delay the case for as long as possible (ROR p. A30, T Vol. I pp. 125-126). Respondent failed to diligently handle the matter and other than filing a short, one page answer and counterpetition provided no significant legal service to Mr. Shaffer (ROR p. A30, B-Ex. 16). Respondent also permitted the opposing party to delay the case (ROR p. A30, T Vol. I pp. 137-139, T Vol. II pp. 392-396, B-Ex. 17) and he failed to maintain adequate communication with his client (ROR p. A30, T Vol. II pp. 393-395, B-Ex. 17). Ultimately, Mr. Shaffer hired new counsel to complete the matter (ROR p. A32, T Vol. I pp. 106-109, T Vol. II pp. 392, 395). Additionally, respondent failed to make timely written responses to the bar's investigative inquiries (ROR pp. A32-A33, Answer to Complaint).

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