IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Case No. SC05-205 [TFB Case No. 2004-

31,666(05A)] v.

HANS CHARLES FEIGE,

Respondent.

THE FLORIDA BAR'S ANSWER BRIEF

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850)561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 123390

JOHN ANTHONY BOGGS Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850)561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 253847

AND

FRANCES R. BROWN-LEWIS Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 1200 Edgewater Drive Orlando, Florida, 32804-6314 (407)425-5424 ATTORNEY NO. 503452

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

At the outset, the bar would note that respondent's statement in his Initial Brief that he requested a copy of the transcript of the sanction hearing from the bar is incorrect. Respondent made no requests for transcripts in this particular case. Even if he had, he would have been advised the bar did not order a copy of the transcript because it was not intending to seek review in this matter. Pursuant to R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-7.7(c)(2), it is the party seeking review who "shall be responsible for, and pay directly to the court reporter, the cost of preparation of transcripts." Because respondent sought the review in this matter, it was his responsibility to obtain the transcript and to provide a copy to the bar. He did not do so.

Respondent refused to participate in these proceedings until the eleventh hour and then, only to file an objection to the referee's entry of a default against him rather than filing an Answer to the bar's Complaint. Respondent's lack of responsiveness in both this disciplinary proceeding and in his representation of his client, Kevin Kirkland, is a pattern of long standing. Respondent did not respond to his client, thus giving rise to the grievance. Respondent did not respond to the bar's investigative inquires at the grievance committee level. Respondent did not file an Answer to the bar's Complaint. Respondent did not file a response to the bar's Motion for Default. Respondent did not respond to the Order of Default. Respondent did not participate in any form until he received notice of the sanction hearing. The bar cannot force respondent to claim his mail. Because the bar fully complied with the service requirements of R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-7.11(b), respondent's arguments that he was denied due process are without merit. Respondent knew a complaint had been filed against him by virtue of the motion for default and order. The referee did not abuse his discretion in denying respondent's motion to set aside the default in this matter. Respondent was afforded a reasonable opportunity to argue his motion to set aside the order of default.

Respondent's argument that venue for this hearing should have been Flagler County rather than Duval County is also without merit. Rule 3-7.6(d) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar pertains to venue for a final evidentiary hearing and no such hearing was held in this case as a result of the default.

The referee's consideration of respondent's prior public reprimand entered in <u>The</u> <u>Florida Bar v. Feige</u>, No. 74,742 (Fla. Nov. 15, 1990), was also correct. The bar's official records reflect a public reprimand (Affidavit of Mary A. Stevens A13) and respondent presented no objective, substantiated evidence to show that an order had been entered rescinding the reprimand or finding respondent not guilty. Based upon the case law, Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, and the aggravating factors present in this case, the referee's recommendation of a 1 year suspension and restitution to the client is appropriate.

ARGUMENT <u>POINT I</u> THE REFEREE'S RULING ON THE BAR'S MOTION FOR DEFAULT WAS CORRECT

In bar disciplinary proceedings, a referee has the discretion to decide whether to grant or deny motions. <u>The Florida Bar v. Roth</u>, 693 So. 2d 969, 972 (Fla. 1997). Absent a clear showing of an abuse of that discretion, the referee's ruling will not be disturbed by this Court. <u>The Florida Bar v. Kandekore</u>, 766 So. 2d 1004, 1006 (Fla. 2000).

The bar's Complaint was served on respondent by certified mail, return receipt requested, at his record bar address. Rule 3-7.11(b) provides that service in a bar disciplinary proceeding may be effected by registered or certified mail to the accused attorney's record bar address. The rule further requires every member of The Florida Bar to notify the bar of a change in the member's record bar address. According to the bar's records, respondent's address at the time the bar served its Complaint was 2 Office Park Drive, Suite D, Palm Coast, Florida 32137-3850, which is the same address the bar used to serve its Complaint. (ROR A1-A2). After three unsuccessful delivery attempts, the United Postal Service returned the Complaint to The Florida Bar as unclaimed. (ROR A2).

After respondent failed to file his answer, the bar moved for default. Defaults are appropriate in a bar disciplinary proceeding where an accused attorney fails to file an answer to the bar's complaint. <u>The Florida Bar v. Shoureas</u>, 892 So. 2d 1002,

1005 (Fla. 2004). A copy of the Motion for Default was served on respondent at his record bar address by regular First Class Mail. (ROR A2). Pursuant to Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.080(b), service by mail shall be complete upon mailing. In a disciplinary proceeding, the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure apply except as otherwise provided in the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. The Florida Bar v. Nunes, 734 So. 2d. 393, 397 (Fla. 1999); R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-7.6 (f)(1). Respondent filed no pleading in response to the Motion for Default. (ROR A2). As a result, on March 7, 2005, the referee entered an order of default finding respondent guilty of violating the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar alleged in the bar's Complaint. (ROR A2). A copy of the order of default was served on respondent at his record bar address by regular U.S. mail. Respondent failed to participate in these proceedings until April 19, 2005, when he served a notice of special appearance objecting to the date of the sanction hearing and arguing that because he had not received the Complaint, the default should not have been entered. (ROR A2). He also argued that he had received insufficient notice of the sanction hearing set for April 20, 2005, and that because he was suffering from an attack of gout, it was impossible for him to appear. (ROR A2). The hearing on respondent's motion was set for April 28, 2005, and the sanction hearing was reset for that same day. (ROR A2).

The referee denied respondent's motion to vacate the default in accordance with <u>The Florida Bar v. Porter</u>, 684 So. 2d 810 (Fla. 1996), where this Court stated

that it would not endorse Mr. Porter's knowing decision to ignore his mail in an attempt to thwart service. (ROR A2). Notice of the proceedings, the bar's motion for default, and the order of default were served on Mr. Porter in accordance with the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar but Mr. Porter failed to claim them. This Court found that service was valid despite the fact the mail went unclaimed. Thus, the entry of the default against Mr. Porter was deemed to be appropriate. The referee found respondent also showed the same lack of concern as Mr. Porter showed in his case. (ROR A2). Further, the referee found that respondent's explanation for not participating in these proceedings prior to the sanction hearing was not credible. (ROR A2; Order on Respondent's Notice of Special Appearance; Objection to Hearing A11).

Rule 3-7.11(b) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar does not require the bar to use any additional methods to effect service on an accused attorney. The bar was not required to call respondent. The bar submits respondent's argument that this Court found service was effected only after the bar also notified Mr. Porter of the existence of the complaint by telephone is mistaken. The court found that the bar had properly served Mr. Porter by serving the complaint by certified mail to his last registered bar address. <u>Florida Bar v. Porter</u>, 684 So. 2d at 813. This same situation was presented in <u>The Florida Bar v. Daniel</u>, 626 So. 2d 178 (Fla. 1993). This Court rejected an attorney's claim that the referee's summary judgment against him should be set aside because the bar had not effected proper service of its complaint, requests

for admission, motion to deem the requests for admission to be admitted and motion for summary judgment. All had been served on the attorney by certified mail, return receipt requested, at his record bar address. The bar's motions were returned as being unclaimed. This Court found the only requirement to effect proper service under the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar was for the bar to serve Mr. Daniel by certified mail at his record bar address. As the referee found in <u>The Florida Bar v. Bergman</u>, 517 So. 2d 11, 13 (Fla. 1987), "it would be unduly burdensome to expect The Florida Bar to find every respondent who chooses to move and not notify The Florida Bar of his whereabouts. Further, if actual notice was made mandatory, a respondent could avoid prosecution simply by making himself unavailable to The Florida Bar service, presenting an obvious threat to the protection of the public."

Respondent had reasonable notice of these proceedings but chose not to pick up his certified mail or respond to documents sent by regular U. S. mail. The bar cannot force an attorney to participate in disciplinary proceedings. What is most disturbing is respondent's pattern of not communicating with either his client or the bar and neglecting not only his client's legal matter but his own disciplinary proceedings as well. Mr. Kirkland deserved competent and diligent representation, not excuses. If respondent could not represent him, he should have referred him to another attorney rather than ignoring Mr. Kirkland's efforts to communicate.

12

<u>POINT II</u> VENUE WAS PROPER

Venue for a final evidentiary hearing, had one been held, would have been Flagler County, Florida, where respondent practices law. Because respondent did not file an answer or any pleading, however, a default was entered against him and a hearing only as to disciplinary recommendations was held. Rule 3-7.6(d) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar provides that the "*trial* shall be held in the county in which an alleged offense occurred or in the county where the respondent resides or practices law or last practiced law in Florida, whichever shall be designated by the Supreme Court of Florida" Emphasis added. The bar submits that rule 3-7.6(d) does not apply here because no trial was held by virtue of the default.

POINT III RESPONDENT WAS AFFORDED DUE PROCESS

In a disciplinary proceeding, the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure apply except as otherwise provided in the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. <u>The Florida Bar v.</u> <u>Nunes</u>, 734 So. 2d. at 397; R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-7.6 (f)(1). Defaults are appropriate in a bar disciplinary proceeding where an accused attorney fails to file an answer to the bar's complaint. <u>The Florida Bar v. Shoureas</u>, 892 So. 2d at 1005. An accused attorney cannot argue that a default should not be entered because he thwarted service by failing to retrieve his mail or by failing to advise the bar as to a change in his record bar address. <u>The Florida Bar v. Porter</u>, 684 So. 2d at 813.

Rule 3-7.11(b) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar provides that service in bar disciplinary proceedings may be effected by registered or certified mail to the attorney's record bar address. Pursuant to R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-7.11(b), every member of The Florida Bar is charged with notifying the Bar of a change in the member's record bar address. The bar is required to serve an attorney at the address shown by the official records in the office of the executive director of The Florida Bar. R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-7.11(b). According to those records, respondent's record bar address, at the time the Complaint was served on February 2, 2005, was 2 Office Park Drive, Suite D, Palm Coast, Florida, 32137-3850. (ROR A1-A2). Respondent did not inform the bar of any change in his address prior to service of the Complaint. The Complaint served on respondent at his record bar address was returned by the United States Postal Service as unclaimed after three delivery attempts. (ROR A2). Respondent did not file an Answer to the Complaint (ROR A2) and, thereafter, the bar moved for a default in this matter on March 2, 2005. (ROR A2). A copy of the bar's Motion for Default was served on respondent at his record bar address by regular United States Mail on March 2, 2005. (ROR A2). Respondent failed to file an objection to the entry of default or otherwise respond to the bar's motion. (ROR A2). On March 7, 2005, the referee granted the bar's Motion for Default and copied respondent with said order at his record bar address. (ROR A2).

The bar is not required to take physical custody an accused attorney to ensure notification of disciplinary proceedings. <u>The Florida Bar v. Santiago</u>, 521 So. 2d. 1111, 1112 (Fla. 1988). Clearly respondent was given adequate notice of these proceedings and an opportunity to be heard. The bar cannot force respondent to pick up his mail from his post office box and read it. Respondent cannot intentionally thwart service attempts then accuse the bar of violating his due process rights.

Respondent's argument that the bar still must present a *prima facie* case is misdirected as the entry of a default in this matter resulted in the allegations contained in the bar's Complaint being deemed admitted. <u>The Florida Bar v. Porter</u>, 684 So. 2d at 813. Herein, the referee's findings are presumed correct unless lacking in evidentiary support. <u>The Florida Bar v. Garland</u>, 651 So. 2d 1182, 1184 (Fla. 1995). If the referee's findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence, then this Court is precluded from reweighing the evidence and substituting its judgment for that of the referee. <u>Florida Bar v. Charnock</u>, 661 So. 2d 1207, 1209 (Fla. 1995). Thus the inquiry is whether the referee's findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence.

Herein, based on the pleadings and other documents filed in the case, the referee filed a report and recommended respondent be found guilty of violating the rules set forth in the bar's Complaint. Because respondent did not contest the factual allegations in the bar's Complaint, the referee entered a default against him and that default stands as a formal stipulation by respondent as to the correctness of the factual allegations contained in the Complaint. The bar submits that the referee's findings of fact and recommendation as to guilt are reasonably supported by the factual allegations in the default constitutes competent, substantial evidence supporting the referee's factual findings and recommendations as to guilt. The Florida Bar v. Shoureas, 892 So. 2d at 1005. Therefore, the bar submits it has met its burden.

POINT IV THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION AS TO DISCPLINE WAS CORRECT

Respondent argues that the bar improperly presented the referee with evidence that he received a public reprimand in <u>The Florida Bar v. Feige</u>, No. 74,742 (Fla. Nov. 15, 1990), for neglecting a legal matter resulting in dismissal and for failing to inform the client of the dismissal or of its ramifications. Although respondent has insisted that he was not disciplined in that matter, he failed to present any evidence to support his allegation. A review of the bar's disciplinary records by the records custodian in this case did not reflect that this order was rescinded or modified. (Affidavit of Mary A. Stevens A13). The bar submits, therefore, that the referee was correct in considering this as a part of respondent's prior disciplinary history.

In addition, the bar submits even not taking into account the discipline in <u>The</u> <u>Florida Bar v. Feige</u>, Case No. 74,742 (Fla. Nov. 15, 1990), the case law and the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions support the referee's recommendation of a 1 year suspension.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Roberts</u>, 770 So. 2d 1207 (Fla. 2000), an attorney was suspended for 91 days as a result of neglect. Mr. Roberts agreed to represent a client in a divorce but then referred her case to another attorney without the client's knowledge or permission. The client became dissatisfied with the other attorney's representation and complained to Mr. Roberts. Mr. Roberts advised the client that she needed to hire new counsel and attempted to return the fee to her but she protested. She wanted Mr. Roberts to complete the case. Mr. Roberts agreed but thereafter neglected the case and failed to maintain communication with the client. In aggravation, Mr. Roberts had a prior disciplinary history and he was suffering from personal or emotional problems at the time that led him to decide to close his law practice.

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